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Plaintiff Price Pfister, Inc. (“Pfister”), for its Complaint against MASCO

Corporation of Indiana, d/b/a Delta Faucet Company (“Delta”), alleges as follows:
NATURE OF THE ACTION

This is an action for patent infringement of United States Patent No.
7,490,619 (the “‘619 Patent”) under the Patent Laws of the United States, 35 U.S.C.
§ 1, et seq., and seeking damages, injunctive relief, and other relief under 35 U.S.C.
§ 281, et seq.

PARTIES

1. Pfister is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the
state of Delaware with its principal place of business in Lake Forest, California.
Pfister is a leading manufacturer of high-quality kitchen and bathroom faucets, tub
and shower fixtures, and bathroom accessories.

2. On information and belief, Delta is a corporation organized and
existing under the laws of the state of Indiana with its principal place of business in
Indianapolis, Indiana. Upon further information and belief, Delta is engaged in the
business of designing and manufacturing faucets and related kitchen and bath
accessories.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

3. This is a complaint for patent infringement under 35 U.S.C. § 271.
This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and
1338(a).

4. Delta is subject to personal jurisdiction in this District. Upon
information and belief, Delta transacts business in California and has continuous
and systematic contacts with California, including intentionally directing its
products for sale into the state of California, maintaining distributor relationships in
the state of California for the sale of its products, and registering to do business in

the state of California. Upon further information and belief, Delta also, either by
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1 | itself or through distributors, offers to sell and sells infringing products in this
2 | District, including, in particular, faucets that infringe the ‘619 Patent.
3 5. Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§
4 | 1391(b) and (c), and 1400(b), as Delta is subject to personal jurisdiction in this
5 | judicial district and has committed acts of infringement in this judicial district.
6 PATENT-IN-SUIT
7 6. On February 17, 2009, the United States Patent and Trademark Office
8 | duly and legally issued the ‘619 Patent titled “Faucet Assembly Having a Handle
9 | Subassembly.” A true and correct copy of the ‘619 Patent is attached hereto as
10 | Exhibit A.
11 7. Pfister is the assignee of all rights, title, and interest in and to the ‘619
12 | Patent.
13 DEFENDANT’S INFRINGING ACTIVITIES
14 8. Upon information and belief, Delta has acted and is acting to
15 | manufacture, import, ship, distribute, offer for sale, sell, and/or advertise a line of
16 | centerset faucets as part of its Olmsted bath suite. True and correct copies of
17 | promotional materials for the Olmsted Two Handle Centerset Lavatory Faucet are
18 | attached hereto as Exhibit B.
19 9. Delta maintains a website at www.deltafaucet.com. The Delta website
20 | provides contact information and resources for obtaining information about Delta
21 | products. The Delta website also features an online product catalog and
22 | information regarding the technical specifications, assembly instructions, price, and
23 | availability of Delta products, including the Olmsted Two Handle Centerset
24 | Lavatory Faucet.
25 10.  Upon information and belief, the Olmsted Two Handle Centerset
26 | Lavatory Faucet, or the assembly of the same, infringes at least one claim of the
27 | ‘619 Patent.
28
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COUNT I: INFRINGEMENT OF THE ‘619 PATENT

11.  Pfister incorporates the allegations contained in the above paragraphs
as though fully set forth herein.

12.  Delta has been and now is directly infringing the ‘619 Patent, either
literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, by making, using, selling, and/or
offering for sale products, including, at least, the Olmsted Two Handle Centerset
Lavatory Faucet, in the United States, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a).

13. By using, offering to sell, selling, and/or importing faucets, including,
at least, the Olmsted Two Handle Centerset Lavatory Faucet, manufactured using a
method of assembly claimed by the ‘619 Patent, Delta has been and now is
infringing, either literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, the ‘619 Patent
under 35 U.S.C. § 271(g).

14.  Upon information and belief, Delta’s infringement is willful, as Delta
is and has been aware, through actual knowledge or willful blindness, that the
infringing products would practice one or more claims of the ‘619 Patent.

15.  Upon information and belief, Delta will continue to infringe the ‘619
Patent unless and until Delta is enjoined by this Court.

16. Delta’s acts of infringement have caused and will continue to cause
damage to Pfister, and Pfister is entitled to recover from Delta the damages
sustained by Pfister and any additional remedy in an amount to be determined at
trial.

17. Delta’s acts of infringement will continue to cause Pfister irreparable
harm in the future unless and until Delta is enjoined from infringing the ‘619

Patent.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Pfister respectfully requests this Court:

A.  Enter judgment that Delta has directly infringed the ‘619 Patent in
violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a);

B.  Enter judgment that Delta has infringed the ‘619 Patent in violation of
35 IL.S.C. §271(g);

C. Permanently enjoin Delta, and its respective officers, agents, servants,
employees, attorneys, and all persons in active concert or participation with any of
the foregoing, from infringing the ‘619 Patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271;

D. Permanently enjoin the sale of faucets created using the patented
methods of the ‘619 Patent;

E. Award Pfister its damages in an amount sufficient to compensate
Pfister for Delta’s infringement of the ‘619 Patent, together with pre-judgment and
post-judgment interest and costs, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284;

F.  Declare this case to be “exceptional” under 35 U.S.C. § 285 and award
Pfister its attorneys’ fees, expenses, and costs incurred in this action; and

G.  Award Pfister such other and further relief as this Court deems just and

proper.

Dated: November 20, 2013 BARNES & THORNBURG LLP

| \
R I

Levi W. Heath

Attorneys for Plaintiff
PRICE PFISTER, INC.

By
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
Pursuant to Rule 38(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Pfister
respectfully requests a trial by jury of any and all issues on which a trial by jury is

available under applicable law.

Dated: November 20, 2013 BARNES & THORNBURG LLP

\ . -
By ‘ i

\

Levi W. Heath

Attorneys for Plaintiff
PRICE PFISTER, INC.
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START

FORM A VALVE BODY SUBASSEMBLY

Y

FORM A DECK PLATE SUBASSEMBLY BY COUPLING THE
HANDLE ADAPTERS TO THE DECK PLATE, SUCH THAT | ~S102
THE HANDLE ADAPTERS ARE NON-ROTATABLE WITH

RESPECT TO THE DECK PLATE
v

FORM HANDLE SUBASSEMBLIES, EACH HANDLE SUBASSEMBLY | /~S104

INCLUDING A HUB AND A VALVE OPERATOR

A

FORM A SPOUT SUBASSEMBLY HAVING A |~ S106
SPOUT AND A MOUNTING COLLAR

v
FIXEDLY ATTACH THE MOUNTING COLLAR OF THE SPOUT
SUBASSEMBLY TO THE VALVE BODY VIA FASTENERS, WITH THE S108
DECK PLATE OF THE DECK PLATE SUBASSEMBLY BEING oA
INTERPOSED BETWEEN THE MOUNTING COLLAR OF THE SPOUT

SUBASSEMBLY AND THE VALVE BODY

ROTATABLY COUPLE THE SPOUT TO THE VALVE BODY OF THE S110
VALVE BODY SUBASSEMBLY BY INSERTING A DISTAL END OF THE S
SPOUT INTO THE SPOUT RECEPTACLE OF THE VALVE BODY
' v
CONNECT EACH VALVE OPERATOR TO THE CORRESPONDING
ACTUATOR OF THE CORRESPONDING VALVE SUBASSEMBLY TO | /= S112
OPERATE THE CORRESPONDING VALVE SUBASSEMBLY BY
ROTATING THE CORRESPONDING ACTUATOR ABOUT THE
RESPECTIVE AXIS

v

CONNECT EACH HUB TO A CORRESPONDING HANDLE ADAPTER,
SO THAT THE RESPECTIVE HUB IS HELD STATIONARY WITH e S114
RESPECT TO THE DECK PLATE DURING ROTATION OF THE

CORRESPONDING VALVE OPERATOR ABOUT THE RESPECTIVE AXIS

=5

Fig. 4
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FAUCET ASSEMBLY HAVING A HANDLE
SUBASSEMBLY

BACKGROUND OF THE INVENTION

1. Field of the Invention

The present invention relates to a faucet assembly, and,
more particularly, to a faucet assembly having a handle sub-
assembly.

2. Description of the Related Art

A faucet assembly typically includes a spout and a pair of
valve operators. The valve operators are connected to respec-
tive hot and cold water valves, and in turn operate the valves
by rotation of the valve operators.

SUMMARY OF THE INVENTION

The invention, in one exemplary form, is directed to a
faucet assembly. The faucet assembly includes a valve sub-
assembly. The valve subassembly includes a valve mecha-
nism and an actuator having an axis. The actuator is coupled
to the valve mechanism to operate the valve mechanism when
the actuator is rotated about the axis. An underbody includes
a valve end body for receiving the valve subassembly for
connection thereto. A deck plate is configured for coupling to
the underbody. The deck plate includes a valve opening. A
handle adapter is coupled to the faucet assembly to be non-
rotatable with respect to the deck plate. A handle subassembly
has a hub and a valve operator. The valve operator is rotatably
coupled to the hub. The valve operator is connected to the
actuator of the valve subassembly to operate the valve subas-
sembly when the valve operator is rotated about the axis to
move in relation to the deck plate. The hub is attached to the
deck plate via the handle adapter such that the hub is held
stationary with respect to the deck plate during operation of
the valve operator.

The invention, in another exemplary form, is directed to a
faucet assembly. The faucet assembly includes a valve body
subassembly including an underbody configured to receive a
plurality of valve subassemblies. Each valve subassembly of
the plurality of valve subassemblies includes a valve mecha-
nism and an actuator coupled to the valve mechanism for
operating the valve mechanism when the actuator is rotated
about a corresponding axis. A deck plate subassembly is
attached to the valve body subassembly. The deck plate sub-
assembly includes a deck plate, and a plurality of handle
adapters is coupled to the faucet assembly to be non-rotatable
with respect to the deck plate and the corresponding axis.
Each handle adapter of the plurality of handle adapters has an
access opening to permit access to a corresponding valve
subassembly of the plurality of valve subassemblies. Each
handle subassembly of a plurality of handle subassemblies
has a hub and a corresponding valve operator. Each corre-
sponding valve operator is rotatably coupled to the hub. Each
valve operator of the plurality of handle subassemblies is
coupled to a corresponding actuator of the valve body subas-
sembly to operate a corresponding valve subassembly of the
plurality of valve subassemblies by rotating the correspond-
ing actuator about the corresponding axis. Each hub of the
plurality of handle subassemblies is connected to a corre-
sponding handle adapter of the deck plate subassembly so as
to be held stationary with respect to the deck plate during
rotation of the corresponding valve operator about the corre-
sponding axis to operate the corresponding actuator.

The invention, in another exemplary form, is directed to a
method of assembling a faucet assembly. The method
includes forming a valve body subassembly including an
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underbody configured to receive at least one valve subassem-
bly, each valve subassembly including a valve mechanism
and an actuator having an axis, the actuator being coupled to
the valve mechanism to operate the valve mechanism when
the actuator is rotated about the axis; forming a deck plate
assembly including a deck plate having at least one valve
opening, each valve opening in the deck plate being posi-
tioned to accommodate a corresponding valve subassembly;
coupling at least one handle adapter to the faucet assembly to
be non-rotatable with respect to the deck plate and the axis;
forming at least one handle subassembly, each the handle
subassembly having a hub and a valve operator mechanism,
the valve operator mechanism being rotatably coupled to the
hub; connecting each valve operator with a corresponding
actuator of the corresponding valve subassembly to operate
the corresponding valve subassembly by rotating the corre-
sponding actuator about the axis; and connecting each hub to
a corresponding handle adapter so that each hub is held sta-
tionary with respect to the deck plate during rotation of a
corresponding valve operator about the axis.

The invention, in still another exemplary form, is directed
to a faucet assembly. The faucet assembly includes a valve
subassembly and an underbody. The underbody includes a
valve end body for receiving the valve subassembly for con-
nection thereto. A deck plate is configured for coupling to the
underbody. The deck plate includes a non-rotatable handle
adapter. A handle subassembly has a hub and a valve operator.
The hub is attached to the deck plate via the non-rotatable
handle adapter such that the hub is held stationary with
respect to the deck plate during operation of the valve opera-
tor.

BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF THE DRAWINGS

The above-mentioned and other features and advantages of
this invention, and the manner of attaining them, will become
more apparent and the invention will be better understood by
reference to the following description of an embodiment of
the invention taken in conjunction with the accompanying
drawings, wherein:

FIG. 11is an exploded view of a faucet assembly configured
according to an embodiment of the present invention.

FIG. 2 is an assembled sectional view of the faucet assem-
bly of FIG. 1.

FIG. 3 is a side view of an alternative embodiment of a
handle adapter for use with the faucet assembly of FIG. 1.

FIG. 4 is a flowchart of an exemplary method for assem-
bling the faucet assembly of FIGS. 1 and 2.

Corresponding reference characters indicate correspond-
ing parts throughout the several views. The exemplifications
set out herein illustrate embodiments of the invention, and
such exemplifications are not to be construed as limiting the
scope of the invention in any manner.

DETAILED DESCRIPTION OF THE INVENTION

Referring now to the drawings of FIGS. 1 and 2, there is
shown a faucet assembly 10 configured in accordance with an
embodiment of the present invention. Faucet assembly 10
includes a valve body subassembly 12, a spout subassembly
14, a deck plate subassembly 16, a handle subassembly 18-1,
and a handle subassembly 18-2.

Valve body subassembly 12 includes an underbody 20, a
valve subassembly 22-1 and a valve subassembly 22-2.
Underbody 20 includes a valve end body 24-1 configured to
attachably receive valve subassembly 22-1, includes a valve
end body 24-2 configured to attachably receive valve subas-

Exhibit A, Page 11
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sembly 22-2, and includes a spout receptacle 24-3 for cou-
pling to spout subassembly 14. For example, each of valve
end bodies 24-1, 24-2 may-have internal threads and each
valve subassemblies 22-1, 22-2 may have external threads for
engaging the external threads of valve end bodies 24-1, 24-2,
respectively, to accommodate the fastening of valve subas-
semblies 22-1, 22-2 to underbody 20.

Valve subassembly 22-1 includes a valve mechanism 26-1
and an actuator 28-1 coupled to valve mechanism 26-1 to
operate valve mechanism 26-1 when actuator 28-1 is rotated
about a corresponding axis 30-1. Valve mechanism 26-1 is
configured to provide a variable fluid flow from closed to full
open, depending on the rotational position of actuator 28-1
about axis 30-1. The rotational range of motion of actuator
28-1 from closed to full open may be, for example, a rotation
around axis 30-1 of about 90 degrees.

Valve subassembly 22-2 includes a valve mechanism 26-2
and an actuator 28-2 coupled to valve mechanism 26-2 to
operate valve mechanism 26-2 when actuator 28-2 is rotated
about a corresponding axis 30-2. Valve mechanism 26-2 is
configured to provide a variable fluid flow from closed to full
open, depending on the rotational position of actuator 28-2
about axis 30-2. The rotational range of motion of actuator
28-2 from closed to full open may be, for example, a rotation
around axis 30-2 of about 90 degrees.

Spout subassembly 14 includes a spout 32 and a spout nut
33. Spout 32 has a distal end 34 which, in combination with an
O-ring 36, is received for rotatable coupling to spout recep-
tacle 24-3 of underbody 20. Spout subassembly 14 further
includes a mounting collar 38 that is configured to be fixedly
attached to underbody 20 via a set of fasteners, e.g., screws,
40. Spout 32 is rotatably coupled to spout nut 33 via a retainer
clip 42. Spout nut 33 is then threaded onto underbody 20 at
spout receptacle 24-3 to secure spout 32 to underbody 20.
Alternatively, for example, spout nut 33 may be threaded into
mounting collar 38.

Deck plate subassembly 16 includes a deck plate 44, a
handle adapter 46-1 and a handle adapter 46-2. Deck plate 44
also may be referred to in the art as an escutcheon. Deck plate
44 has a valve opening 48-1, a valve opening 48-2 and a spout
opening 48-3. Valve opening 48-1 is located in deck plate 44
such that axis 30-1 of valve subassembly 22-1 passes through
valve opening 48-1 when deck plate 44 is in its desired posi-
tion with respect to valve body subassembly 12. Likewise,
valve opening 48-2 is located such that axis 30-2 of valve
subassembly 22-2 passes through valve opening 48-2 when
deck plate 44 is in its desired position with respect to valve
body subassembly 12.

Handle adapter 46-1 and deck plate 44 may be configured
to form an anti-rotation device 50-1 to prevent rotation of
handle adapter 46-1 with respect to deck plate 44 about axis
30-1. Thus, handle adapter 46-1 is coupled to deck plate 44 to
be non-rotatable with respect to deck plate 44 and corre-
sponding axis 30-1. Anti-rotation device 50-1 may be imple-
mented, for example, as a pair of mating flats 52-1, 54-1
formed at valve opening 48-1 and on an exterior surface of
handle adapter 46-1, respectively. Handle adapter 46-1 has an
access opening 56-1 to permit access to corresponding valve
subassembly 22-1.

Likewise, handle adapter 46-2 and deck plate 44 may be
configured to form an anti-rotation device 50-2 to prevent
rotation of handle adapter 46-2 with respect to deck plate 44
about axis 30-2. Thus, handle adapter 46-2 is coupled to deck
plate 44 to be non-rotatable with respect to deck plate 44 and
corresponding axis 30-2. Anti-rotation device 50-2 may be
implemented, for example, as a pair of mating flats 52-2, 54-2
formed at valve opening 48-2 and on an exterior surface of
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handle adapter 46-2, respectively. Handle adapter 46-2 has an
access opening 56-2 to permit access to corresponding valve
subassembly 22-2.

Those skilled in the art will recognize that anti-rotation
devices 50-1, 50-2 may be implemented in other forms, such
as for example, as a key and slot arrangement. Also, alterna-
tively, deck plate 44 and handle adapters 46-1, 46-2 may be
formed as a unitary structure, such as during a molding or
forging process, or permanently attached by welds or adhe-
sive.

As a further alternative, as shown in FIG. 3, a handle
adapter 46-3 has external threads 64-3, and is configured to be
a suitable replacement for handle adapter 46-1 and/or handle
adapter 46-2. Handle adapter 46-3 together with underbody
20 form an anti-rotation device 50-3 to effect an engagement
of valve handle adapter 46-3 with underbody 20 to prevent
rotation of handle adapter 46-3 with respect to deck plate 44.
For example, as shown in the embodiment of FIG. 3, handle
adapter 46-3 may include one or more prongs 47-1 and 47-2
that engage underbody 20 to prevent rotation of handle
adapter 46-3 with respect to deck plate 44 about an axis, e.g.,
one of axis 30-1 or axis 30-2. Alternatively, the prong(s) 47-1,
47-2 may be formed on underbody 20 to engage correspond-
ing recesses in handle adapter 46-3. During assembly, handle
adapter 46-3 would be trapped between deck plate 44 and
underbody 20.

Again referring to FIGS. 1 and 2, deck plate subassembly
16 is attached to valve body subassembly 12 via the set of
fasteners 40, with deck plate 44 being interposed between
mounting collar 38 of spout subassembly 14 and underbody
20 of valve body subassembly 12. The set of fasteners 40 pass
through corresponding holes in underbody 20 and deck plate
44, and thread into holes in mounting collar 38.

Handle subassembly 18-1 has a hub 58-1 and a valve
operator 60-1. Valve operator 60-1 is rotatably coupled to hub
58-1, such that valve operator 60-1 is free to rotate when hub
58-1 is held stationary. Likewise, handle subassembly 18-2
has a hub 58-2 and a valve operator 60-2. Valve operator 60-2
is rotatably coupled to hub 58-2, such that valve operator 60-2
is free to rotate when hub 58-2 is held stationary.

As shown in FIG. 2, for example, with respect to handle
subassembly 18-2, in order to rotatably couple valve operator
60-2 to hub 58-2, valve operator 60-2 may include a stem 61
that is inserted into hub 58-2, and configured to receive a
retaining ring 63 to limit axial motion of valve operator 60-2
with respect to hub 58-2 and axis 30-2, while permitting
rotational motion of valve operator 60-2 with respect to hub
58-2 about axis 30-2. Handle subassembly 18-1 may be con-
figured similar to handle subassembly 18-2.

Referring again to FIG. 1, valve operator 60-1 includes an
opening with internal splines (not shown) that engage exter-
nal splines 62-1 of actuator 28-1 of valve subassembly 22-1
s0 as to connect valve operator 60-1 with actuator 28-1. Hub
58-1 is connected to handle adapter 46-1 in a manner so as to
be held stationary with respect to deck plate 44 during opera-
tion of valve operator 60-1. In one embodiment, for example,
hub 58-1 of handle subassembly 18-1 may have internal
threads and handle adapter 46-1 may have external threads
64-1 configured to engage the internal threads of hub 58-1,
wherein during assembly of faucet assembly 10, hub 58-1 is
threaded onto handle adapter 46-1 and fastened tightly via
engagement of the internal threads of hub 58-1 with the
external threads 64-1 of handle adapter 46-1.

Accordingly, during operation, valve operator 60-1 may be
rotated about axis 30-1, i.e., moving in relation to deck plate
44, which correspondingly rotates actuator 28-1 to operate
valve mechanism 26-1 of valve subassembly 22-1, while hub
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58-1 is held stationary with respect to deck plate 44 by the
engagement of hub 58-1 with handle adapter 46-1.

Likewise, valve operator 60-2 includes an opening with
internal splines 65 (see FIG. 2) that engage external splines
62-2 of actuator 28-2 of valve subassembly 22-2 so as to
connect valve operator 60-2 with actuator 28-2. Hub 58-2 is
connected to handle adapter 46-2 in a manner so as to be held
stationary with respect to deck plate 44 during operation of
valve operator 60-2. In one embodiment, for example, hub
58-2 of handle subassembly 18-2 may have internal threads
and handle adapter 46-2 may have external threads 64-2 con-
figured to engage the internal threads of hub 58-2, wherein
during assembly of faucet assembly 10, hub 58-2 is threaded
onto handle adapter 46-2 and fastened tightly via engagement
of the internal threads of hub 58-2 with the external threads
64-2 of handle adapter 46-2.

Accordingly, during operation, valve operator 60-2 may be
rotated about axis 30-2, i.e., moving in relation to deck plate
44, which correspondingly rotates actuator 28-2 to operate
valve mechanism 26-2 of valve subassembly 22-2, while hub
58-2 is held stationary with respect to deck plate 44 by the
engagement of hub 58-2 with handle adapter 46-2.

FIG. 4 is a flowchart of an exemplary method for assem-
bling faucet assembly 10. Those skilled in the art will recog-
nize that the order of the steps set forth below may be varied,
and the present invention is intended to cover all viable com-
binations of the following steps, regardless of the actual order
used.

At step S100, valve body subassembly 12 is formed.

At step S102, deck plate subassembly 16 is formed by
coupling handle adapters 46-1, 46-2 to deck plate 44, such
that handle adapters 46-1, 46-2 are non-rotatable with respect
to deck plate 44 and corresponding axes 30-1 and 30-2,
respectively. Because of handle adapters 46-1, 46-2, deck
plate 44 operates as a structural member as opposed to merely
a decorative cover, as in conventional faucets.

At step S104, handle subassemblies 18-1, 18-2 are formed,
with each handle assembly including a hub and a valve opera-
tor. For example, valve operator 60-1 is rotatably coupled to
hub 58-1 of handle subassembly 18-1, such that valve opera-
tor 60-1 is free to rotate when hub 58-1 is held stationary.
Likewise, valve operator 60-2 is rotatably coupled to hub
58-2 of handle subassembly 18-2, such that valve operator
60-1 is free to rotate when hub 58-2 is held stationary.

Atstep S106, spout subassembly 14 is formed having spout
32 and mounting collar 38.

At step S108, mounting collar 38 of spout subassembly 14
is fixedly attached to underbody 20 via fasteners 40, with deck
plate 44 of deck plate subassembly 16 being interposed
between mounting collar 38 of spout subassembly 14 and
underbody 20. Accordingly, mounting collar 38, i.e., the
spout collar, of spout subassembly 14 rigidly couples deck
plate 44 to underbody 20, thereby making deck plate 44 a
structural member rather than just an esthetic covering for
underbody 20. Because of this structural arrangement, handle
hubs 58-1, 58-2 of handle subassemblies 18-1, 18-2 attach to
deck plate 20 (by way of handle adapters 46-1, 46-2, respec-
tively). In contrast, in conventional faucets, the handle hubs
attach to the valves or valve bodies.

At step S110, spout 32 is rotatably coupled to underbody
20 by inserting distal end 34 of spout 32 into spout receptacle
24-3 of underbody 20. Spout nut 33 is then threaded onto
underbody 20 at spout receptacle 24-3 to secure spout 32 to
underbody 20.

At step S112, valve operator 60-1 is connected to the cor-
responding actuator 28-1 of the corresponding valve subas-
sembly 22-1 to operate valve subassembly 22-1 by rotating
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the corresponding actuator 28-1 about axis 30-1. Likewise,
valve operator 60-2 is connected to the corresponding actua-
tor 28-2 of valve subassembly 22-2 to operate valve subas-
sembly 22-2 by rotating the corresponding actuator 28-2
about the respective axis 30-2.

At step S114, hub 58-1 is connected to corresponding
handle adapter 46-1, so that hub 58-1 is held stationary with
respect to deck plate 44 during rotation of the corresponding
valve operator 60-1 about axis 30-1. Likewise, hub 58-2 is
connected to corresponding handle adapter 46-2, so that hub
58-2 is held stationary with respect to deck plate 44 during
rotation of the corresponding valve operator 60-2 about the
respective axis 30-2.

Accordingly, during operation of faucet assembly 10, valve
operator 60-1 is rotated about axis 30-1, i.e., moving in rela-
tion to deck plate 44, which correspondingly rotates actuator
28-1 to operate valve mechanism 26-1 of valve subassembly
22-1, while hub 58-1 is held stationary with respect to deck
plate 44 by the engagement of hub 58-1 with handle adapter
46-1. Likewise, valve operator 60-2 is rotated about axis 30-2,
i.e., moving in relation to deck plate 44, which correspond-
ingly rotates actuator 28-2 to operate valve mechanism 26-2
of'valve subassembly 22-2, while hub 58-2 is held stationary
with respect to deck plate 44 by the engagement of hub 58-2
with handle adapter 46-2.

While this invention has been described with respect to
embodiments of the invention, the present invention may be
further modified within the spirit and scope of this disclosure.
This application is therefore intended to cover any variations,
uses, or adaptations of the invention using its general prin-
ciples. Further, this application is intended to cover such
departures from the present disclosure as come within known
or customary practice in the art to which this invention per-
tains and which fall within the limits of the appended claims.

What is claimed is:

1. A faucet assembly, comprising:

a valve subassembly, said valve subassembly including a
valve mechanism and an actuator having an axis, said
actuator being coupled to said valve mechanism to oper-
ate said valve mechanism when said actuator is rotated
about said axis;

an underbody, said underbody including a valve end body
for receiving said valve subassembly for connection
thereto;

a deck plate configured for coupling to said underbody,
said deck plate including a valve opening;

a handle adapter coupled to said faucet assembly to be
non-rotatable with respect to said deck plate; and

a handle subassembly having a hub and a valve operator,
said valve operator being rotatably coupled to said hub,
said valve operator being connected to said actuator of
said valve subassembly to operate said valve subassem-
bly when said valve operator is rotated about said axis to
move in relation to said deck plate, and said hub being
attached to said deck plate via said handle adapter such
that said hub is held stationary with respect to said deck
plate during operation of said valve operator,

wherein said handle adapter includes an anti-rotation fea-
ture located to engage a portion of at least one of said
underbody and said deck plate, said anti-rotation feature
and said portion together forming an anti-rotation device
to prevent rotation of said handle adapter with respect to
said deck plate about said axis.

2. The faucet assembly of claim 1, further comprising:

a spout subassembly having a spout rotatably coupled to
said underbody; and
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a mounting collar fixedly attached to said underbody, with
said deck plate being interposed between said mounting
collar and said underbody.

3. The faucet assembly of claim 1, wherein said handle
adapter and said deck plate are configured to form said anti-
rotation device to prevent rotation of said handle adapter with
respect to said deck plate about said axis.

4. The faucet assembly of claim 1, wherein said handle
adapter and said underbody are configured to form said anti-
rotation device to prevent rotation of said handle adapter with
respect to said deck plate about said axis.

5. The faucet assembly of claim 1, wherein said handle
adapter and said deck plate are formed as a unitary structure.

6. The faucet assembly of claim 1, wherein said hub of said
handle subassembly has internal threads and said handle
adapter has external threads configured to engage said inter-
nal threads of said hub, wherein during assembly of said
faucet assembly said hub is fastened tightly to said handle
adapter via engagement of said internal threads of said hub
with said external threads of said handle adapter.

7. The faucet assembly of claim 1, further comprising:

a second valve subassembly, said second valve subassem-
bly including a second valve mechanism and a second
actuator having a second axis, said second actuator
being coupled to said second valve mechanism to oper-
ate said second valve mechanism when said second
actuator is rotated about said second axis;

said underbody including a second valve end body for
receiving said second valve subassembly for connection
thereto;

said deck plate including a second valve opening, said
second axis of said second valve subassembly passing
through said second valve opening of said deck plate;

a second handle adapter coupled to said faucet assembly to
be non-rotatable with respect to said deck plate; and

a second handle subassembly having a second hub and a
second valve operator, said second valve operator being
rotatably coupled to said second hub,

said second valve operator being connected to said second
actuator of said second valve subassembly to operate
said second valve subassembly when said second valve
operator is rotated about said second axis to move in
relation to said deck plate, and

said second hub being attached to said deck plate via said
second handle adapter such that said second hub is held
stationary with respect to said deck plate during opera-
tion of said second valve operator.

8. The faucet assembly of claim 7, wherein said second
handle adapter includes a portion of an anti-rotation device to
prevent rotation of said second handle adapter with respect to
said deck plate about said axis.

9. The faucet assembly of claim 7, wherein said second
handle adapter and said deck plate are configured to form an
anti-rotation device to prevent rotation of said second handle
adapter with respect to said deck plate about said second axis.

10. The faucet assembly of claim 7, wherein said second
handle adapter and said underbody are configured to form an
anti-rotation device to prevent rotation of said second handle
adapter with respect to said deck plate about said axis.

11. The faucet assembly of claim 7, wherein said second
handle adapter and said deck plate are formed as a unitary
structure.

12. The faucet assembly of claim 7, wherein said second
hub of said second handle subassembly has second internal
threads and said second handle adapter has second external
threads configured to engage said second internal threads of
said second hub, wherein during assembly of said faucet
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assembly said second hub is fastened tightly to said second
handle adapter via engagement of said second internal
threads of said second hub with said second external threads
of said second handle adapter.

13. A faucet assembly, comprising:

a valve body subassembly including an underbody config-
ured to receive a plurality of valve subassemblies, each
valve subassembly of said plurality of valve subassem-
blies including a valve mechanism and an actuator
coupled to said valve mechanism for operating said
valve mechanism when said actuator is rotated about a
corresponding axis;

a deck plate subassembly attached to said valve body sub-
assembly, said deck plate subassembly including a deck
plate;

a plurality of handle adapters coupled to said faucet assem-
bly to be non-rotatable with respect to said deck plate
and said corresponding axis, each handle adapter of said
plurality of handle adapters having an access opening to
permit access to a corresponding valve subassembly of
said plurality of valve subassemblies; and

a plurality of handle subassemblies, each handle subas-
sembly of said plurality of handle subassemblies having
a hub and a corresponding valve operator, each said
corresponding valve operator being rotatably coupled to
said hub, wherein:

each said valve operator of said plurality of handle subas-
semblies is coupled to a corresponding actuator of said
valve body subassembly to operate a corresponding
valve subassembly of said plurality of valve subassem-
blies by rotating said corresponding actuator about said
corresponding axis; and

each hub of said plurality of handle subassemblies is con-
nected to a corresponding handle adapter of said deck
plate subassembly so as to be held stationary with
respect to said deck plate during rotation of said corre-
sponding valve operator about said corresponding axis
to operate said corresponding actuator,

wherein each of said plurality of handle adapters includes
an anti-rotation feature located to engage a portion of at
least one of said underbody and said deck plate, said
anti-rotation feature and said portion together forming
an anti-rotation device to prevent rotation of a corre-
sponding handle adapter with respect to said deck plate
about said corresponding axis.

14. The faucet assembly of claim 13, further comprising:

a spout subassembly having a spout rotatably coupled to
said underbody; and

a mounting collar fixedly attached to said underbody, with
said deck plate of said deck plate assembly being inter-
posed between said mounting collar and said underbody
of said valve body subassembly.

15. The faucet assembly of claim 13, wherein each said
handle adapter and said deck plate are configured to form
corresponding anti-rotation devices to prevent rotation of
each handle adapter of said plurality of handle adapters with
respect to said deck plate about said corresponding axis.

16. The faucet assembly of claim 13, wherein each handle
adapter and said underbody are configured to form corre-
sponding anti-rotation devices to prevent rotation of each
handle adapter of said plurality of handle adapters with
respect to said deck plate about said corresponding axis.

17. The faucet assembly of claim 13, wherein said plurality
ot handle adapters and said deck plate are formed as a unitary
structure.

18. The faucet assembly of claim 13, wherein each hub of
said plurality of handle subassemblies has internal threads
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and a corresponding handle adapter of said plurality of handle
adapters has external threads configured to engage said inter-
nal threads, wherein during assembly of said faucet assembly
said each hub is fastened tightly to said corresponding handle
adapter via said internal threads and said external threads.
19. A method of assembling a faucet assembly, compris-
ing:
forming a valve body subassembly including an underbody
configured to receive at least one valve subassembly,
each valve subassembly including a valve mechanism
and an actuator having an axis, said actuator being
coupled to said valve mechanism to operate said valve
mechanism when said actuator is rotated about said axis;
forming a deck plate assembly including a deck plate hav-
ing at least one valve opening, each valve opening in said
deck plate being positioned to accommodate a corre-
sponding valve subassembly;
coupling at least one handle adapter to said faucet assembly
to be non-rotatable with respect to said deck plate and
said axis;
forming at least one handle subassembly, each said handle
subassembly having a hub and a valve operator mecha-
nism, said valve operator mechanism being rotatably
coupled to said hub;
connecting each said valve operator with a corresponding
actuator of said corresponding valve subassembly to
operate said corresponding valve subassembly by rotat-
ing said corresponding actuator about said axis; and
connecting each said hub to a corresponding handle
adapter to attach each said hub to said deck plate so that
each said hub is held stationary with respect to said deck
plate during rotation of a corresponding valve operator
about said,
wherein each said handle adapter includes an anti-rotation
feature located to engage a portion of at least one of said
underbody and said deck plate, said anti-rotation feature
and said portion together forming an anti-rotation device
to prevent rotation of said each handle adapter with
respect to said deck plate about said axis.
20. The method of claim 19, further comprising:
forming a spout subassembly having a spout and a spout
nut;

10

fixedly attaching a mounting collar to said underbody, with
said deck plate of said deck plate subassembly being
interposed between said mounting collar and said under-
body of said valve body subassembly; and

rotatably coupling said spout to said underbody via said
spout nut.

21. The method of claim 19, wherein each said handle

adapter and said deck plate are formed as a unitary structure.

22. The method of claim 19, wherein the act of connecting

10 each said hub to a corresponding handle adapter is performed
by threading said hub onto said corresponding handle adapter
until tight.

23. A faucet assembly, comprising:

a valve subassembly, said valve subassembly including a
valve mechanism and an actuator having an axis, said
actuator being coupled to said valve mechanism to oper-
ate said valve mechanism when said actuator is rotated
about said axis;

an underbody, said underbody including a valve end body
for receiving said valve subassembly for connection
thereto;

a deck plate configured for coupling to said underbody,
said deck plate including a valve opening;

a handle adapter coupled to said faucet assembly to be
non-rotatable with respect to said deck plate;

a handle subassembly having a hub and a valve operator,
said valve operator being rotatably coupled to said hub,
said valve operator being connected to said actuator of

30 said valve subassembly to operate said valve subassem-
bly when said valve operator is rotated about said axis to
move in relation to said deck plate, and said hub being
attached to said deck plate via said handle adapter such
that said hub is held stationary with respect to said deck

35 plate during operation of said valve operator; and

anti-rotation means for preventing rotation of said handle
adapter with respect to said deck plate about said axis.

24. The faucet assembly of claim 23, wherein said anti-

rotation means is integrally formed with said handle adapter

40 and at least one of said underbody and said deck plate.
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VHI. VENUE: Youranswers to the questions below will determine the division of the Court to which this case will most likely be initially assigned. This initial assignment
is subject to change, in accordance with the Court's General Orders, upon review by the Court of your Complaint or Notice of Removal.

Question A: Was this case removed from

. STATE CASEWAS PENDING IN:THE COUNTY.OF

INITIAL DIVISION IN CACD |

state court? - L - -
[ Yes No [C] LosAngeles Western
If 'no, " go to Question B, If "yes," checkthe |[] Ventura, Santa Barbara, or San Luis Obispo Western
box to the right that applies, enter the
corresponding division in response to [7] Orange Southern
Question D, below, and skip to Section IX. 5
[7] Riverside or San Bernardino astern

Question B: Is the United States, or one of
its agencies or employees, a party to this
action?

[] Yes No

If "no, " go to Question C. If "yes," checkthe |[_] Los Angeles [] LosAngeles Western

box to the rfght t_h?t applles, enter the Ventura, Santa Barbara, or San Luis Ventura, Santa Barbara, or San Luis

corresponding division in response to | Obispo O Obispo Western

Question D, below, and skip to Section IX.
[] Orange [] Orange Southern
[] Riverside or San Bernardino [] Riverside or San Bernardino Eastern
[] Other [] Other Western

!hdicate ihe klékcatioh in which é
majority of plaintiffs reside:

Indicate the location in which a
majority of defendants reside:

Indicate the location in which a

majority of claims arose:

C.1. Is either of the following true? If so, check the one that applies:
2 or more answers in Column C

D only 1 answer in Column C and no answers in Column D

Your case will initially be assigned to the
SOUTHERN DIVISION.
Enter "Southern" in response to Question D, below.

If none applies, answer question C2 to the right.

—

C.2, Is either of the following true? If so, check the one that applies:

D 2 or more answers in Column D

D only 1 answer in Column D and no answers in Column C

Your case will initially be assigned to the
EASTERN DIVISION,
Enter "Eastern” in response to Question D, below.

If none applies, go to the box below. l

Your case will initially be assigned to the
WESTERN DIVISION,
Enter "Western" in response to Question D below.

Enter the initial division determined by Question A, B, or Cabove: sy

Southern
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IX{a). IDENTICAL CASES: Has this action been previously filed in this court and dismissed, remanded or closed? NO (] YEs
If yes, list case number(s):
IX(b). RELATED CASES: Have any cases been previously filed in this court that are related to the present case? NO [] YES

If yes, list case number(s):

Civil cases are deemed related If a previously filed case and the present case:

{Check all boxes that apply)

D A. Arise from the same or closely related transactions, happenings, or events; or

E] B. Call for determination of the same or substantially related or similar questions of law and fact; or

D C. For other reasons would entail substantial duplication of labor if heard by different judges; or

[:] D. Involve the same patent, trademark or copyright, and one of the factors Identified above in a, b or c also is present.

1

X. SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY

\

(OR SELF-REPRESENTED LITIGANT): - =~ 5 | DATE: 20~/ev |3

N

Notice to Counsel/Parties: The CV-71 (JS-44) Civil Cover Sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or
other papers as required by law. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required pursuant to Local Rule 3-1is not filed
but is used by the Clerk of the Court for the purpose of statistics, venue and initiating the civil docket sheet. (For more detailed instructions, see separate instructions sheet),

Key to Statistical codes relating to Social Security Cases:

Nature of Suit Code

861

862

863

863

864

865

Abbreviation

HIA

BL

DIWC

DIWwW

SSID

RSI

Substantive Statement of Cause of Action
All claims for health insurance benefits (Medicare) under Title 18, Part A, of the Social Security Act, as amended, Also,
include claims by hospitals, skilled nursing facilities, etc., for certification as providers of services under the program.,
(42 US.C. 1935FF(b)}

All claims for "Black Lung" benefits under Title 4, Part B, of the Federal Coal Mine Health and Safety Act of 1969. (30 U.S.C.
923)

All claims filed by insured workers for disability insurance benefits under Title 2 of the Social Security Act, as amended; plus
all claims filed for child's insurance benefits based on disability. (42 U.S.C. 405 (g))

All claims filed for widows or widowers insurance benefits based on disability under Title 2 of the Social Security Act, as
amended. (42 U.5.C. 405 (g))

All claims for supplemental security income payments based upon disability filed under Title 16 of the Social Security Act, as
amended.

All claims for retirement (old age) and survivors benefits under Title 2 of the Social Security Act, as amended,
(42 U.S.C. 405 (g))
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